89415-9

To be argued by
ADAM P. KARP

Washington Supreme Court

—◆—
Ct. of Appeals Div. II Docket No. 39767-6

Kitsap Cy. Sup. Ct. Cause No. 08-2-01979-1

JULIE HENDRICKSON,

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

-against-

TENDER CARE ANIMAL HOSPITAL CORP., et al.,

Defendants-Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW (RAP 13.4)

ADAM P. KARP, ESQ.
ANIMAL LAW OFFICES
Attorney for Plaintiff-Petitioner
114 W. Magnolia St., Ste. 425
Bellingham, WA 98225
(888) 430-0001
WSBA No. 28622

FILED

OCT 12 2013

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

CRF

FILED IN COA ON OCTOBER 17, 2013

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Julie Hendrickson, through her attorney of record Adam P. Karp, makes this petition for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2 and 4).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Hendrickson seeks reversal of that part of the Sept. 17, 2013 Court of Appeals *Published Opinion* (**Exh. A**) affirming the part of Kitsap County Superior Court Judge Leila Mills's May 22, 2009 order (**Exh. B**) granting summary judgment dismissal of Ms. Hendrickson's claims for emotional distress damages and for reckless breach of bailment, including the May 22, 2009 order denying reconsideration thereof (**Exh. C**).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err by categorically rejecting emotional distress damages upon proof of reckless breach of a veterinary contract?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Julie Hendrickson, a Commander in the United States Navy, serving as a military nurse, sued Tender Care Animal Hospital Corporation d/b/a Ridgetop Animal Hospital and veterinarian Dr. Kristen T. Cage¹ for reckless breach of (bailment) contract, professional negligence, and negligent misrepresentation/lack of informed consent – all pertaining to her four-year-old, Golden Retriever mix named Bear, who

¹ Veterinarian Dr. Shannon L. Heath was dismissed with prejudice.

died from gastric dilatation (bloat) shortly after being discharged from Defendants' hospital. On this date, Ms. Hendrickson left Bear for an elective neuter and microchip implantation. The neutering surgery was uneventful, but substantial vomiting complicated postoperative recovery. Ms. Hendrickson was told by an employee, "I've never seen a dog throw up as much as he has." For this, Bear received a Reglan injection and Ms. Hendrickson learned from staff that, after the injection, "he is much better now." ***Hendrickson Decl., Exh. D.***

Just prior to Bear's discharge that evening, an abdominal radiograph was made showing significant gastric dilatation. Even the chart notes confirmed a diagnosis of bloat, yet no steps were taken to decompress Bear's stomach, much less discuss alternatives to treatment with Ms. Hendrickson. "A dilated stomach, even without torsion, is an emergent and life threatening situation that requires immediate response when presented to a veterinarian." ***Kern Decl., Exh. E.*** Indeed, from moment of intake to moment of discharge, not one veterinarian ever spoke to Ms. Hendrickson, nor did any person seek consent from Ms. Hendrickson for the x-ray taken by Dr. Cage, nor did any person explain the risks associated with discharging Bear in his current condition, nor did any person discuss alternative treatment (e.g., orogastric tube placement,

trocharization, cannula placement) – despite Ms. Hendrickson’s attempt to confirm that a veterinarian on-site was aware of Bear’s condition.

Instead, Defendants discharged Bear to Ms. Hendrickson bloated and weak, with slightly pale gums, recommending orally (through an inexperienced assistant) that Ms. Hendrickson obtain and administer Gas-X, take him on short walks once home, and if his condition worsened, to go to the emergency hospital. Ms. Hendrickson monitored Bear in accordance with the insufficient information given to her by the technician charged with speaking to Ms. Hendrickson while Dr. Cage remained, obscurely and anonymously,² in the back of the hospital.

Upon arriving at home, Bear’s condition remained unstable, so Ms. Hendrickson called the Animal Emergency and Trauma Center (“AETC”) for advice. While on the phone with AETC, Bear lay down in her driveway and did not move, even after being leashed. Noting he stopped breathing and had a weak, rapid pulse, she began CPR and, with a neighbor’s assistance, drove to AETC. Over the long drive, she continued performing CPR.

Bear arrived at AETC in respiratory and cardiac arrest. Despite AETC’s efforts, Bear could not be resuscitated. Ms. Hendrickson suffered profound emotional distress arising from watching Bear die, trying to save

² Ms. Hendrickson did not even know Dr. Cage had attended Bear since no veterinarian made her or his presence known.

his life to no avail, and being lost, numb, and exhausted in the aftermath of the tragedy. *Exh. D*, ¶¶ 13-14. Had she been informed of the risks of discharge as instructed, she would have insisted upon immediate decompression or gone straight to an emergency room. *Id.*, ¶ 12.

Ms. Hendrickson retained board-certified, historically seven-state licensed, surgeon Douglas A. Kern, DVM, MS, DACVS. He opined with reasonable medical certainty that the Defendants' acts and omissions "clearly breached the standard of care," "certainly led to his death," and that the inactions "constitute recklessness and a deliberate indifference to the information gathered by their radiographs and evaluations." *Exh. E*.

On May 8, 2009, the Hon. Leila Mills heard Defendants' motion for summary judgment dismissal. The oral ruling granting relief in part by applying the economic loss rule to dismiss all tort and emotional distress claims, but denying the request to fix damages at a pretended market or replacement value of less than \$450 (noting that fact issues existed, and relying on *Sherman v. Kissinger*, 146 Wash.App. 855 (I, 2008)), was memorialized in a written order on May 22, 2009, and which dismissed with prejudice all claims sounding in tort; all claims for emotional distress damages; and Plaintiff's claim for reckless breach of bailment. *Exh. B*.

On Sept. 18, 2009, Ms. Hendrickson filed a notice of appeal. Defendants did not cross-appeal. Four years later, after a *two year* stay of

proceedings awaiting this court's determination of *Jackowski v. Hawkins Poe, Inc.*, 278 P.3d 1100 (Wash.2012), an economic loss rule case, Division II decided Ms. Hendrickson's appeal, reinstating all her tort claims after reversing the trial court's summary judgment order premised on an erroneous interpretation of the independent duty doctrine. However, it affirmed dismissal of Ms. Hendrickson's emotional distress claim arising from *Restatement (2nd) of Torts* § 353 and *Gaglidari v. Denny's Restaurants, Inc.*, 117 Wn.2d 426 (1991). Ms. Hendrickson seeks this court's review of the latter part of the decision.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. RAP 13.4(b)(4)– Substantial Public Importance

Issues of first impression that affect not only the parties at bar but potentially thousands of other daily interactions throughout this State, warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005). Examples where the Court of Appeals has granted RAP 2.3(d)(3) review include *Guillen v. Contreras*, 147 Wash.App. 326, 330 (III, 2008)(noting matter was also of first impression regarding statutory interpretation); *In re Estate of Haviland*, 161 Wash.App. 851, 854 (I, 2011)(first impression).³

³ RAP 2.3(d)(3) serves as a rough analog to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Perhaps the primary reason to grant review comes from the panel itself, which below acknowledged that Ms. Hendrickson has presented a matter never before reviewed by any appellate court in Washington. *Slip op.*, at 5. It also succumbed to exaggerated speculation, stating that a ruling favoring Ms. Hendrickson would have “enormous” juridical impact in “nearly every” veterinary contract case. *Slip op.*, at 10.

The Economics of Veterinary Medicine and Malpractice

Modern society accepts and furthers the view that companion animals have immense intrinsic and emotional value. Veterinarians know and profit from this as well. If there were ever any question our love for companion animals, consider the images that flooded our television screens in the wake of Hurricane Katrina.⁴ Appellate decisions voice awareness of this substantial interest, and rule accordingly.⁵ Reflecting the increasing value of domestic companion animals in contemporary society, legislatures across the country have moved rapidly to enact a multitude of protections to prevent companion animals and their owners from suffering unnecessary harm. For example, in 1993 only seven states prosecuted

⁴ In the hours, days, and weeks after Hurricane Katrina, news reports were predominated by images of desperate hurricane victims begging to be evacuated with their companion animals. Other hurricane victims, forced by local officials to leave their companions behind, worked tirelessly to be reunited with the animal members of their family after the storm passed. The national response to these images was so staggering that the federal government passed disaster relief legislation to ensure that, in the future, disaster evacuation plans include the evacuation of companion animals. *See* Pets Evacuation and Transportation Standards Act of 2006, 42 U.S.C. §§ 5121, 5196, 5196b, 5170b(a)(3).

⁵ *See, infra.*

companion animal cruelty as a felony. Today, just twenty years later, there is only one (South Dakota) that *does not*.⁶ As an additional safeguard, Washington now statutorily provides for domestic companion animals to be included in orders of protection⁷ as well as in animal trusts.⁸ Washington has five regulatory sections addressing theft of a pet.⁹

Nonetheless, many veterinarians continue to hypocritically rely on the human-animal bond for their livelihoods while contending that their misconduct should be judicially immunized and economically fixed at no more than “market value,” without consideration for the emotional damage their actions and omissions may inflict. To restore equilibrium to this doctrinally unfair alignment, and to use the civil justice system to provide both compensation and deterrence,¹⁰ requires remedies commensurate with the foreseeable harm, as inflicted here by Dr. Cage’s reckless behavior in the handling of Bear.

Respondents may argue that government regulators already mete

⁶ Aldf.org/downloads/Felony_Status_List%204-12.pdf. Washington passed its felony law in 1994. RCW 16.52.205. However, veterinarians are categorically exempted from prosecution for felony animal cruelty for accepted practices. RCW 16.52.205(6).

⁷ See e.g. RCW 26.50.060(1)(l).

⁸ See e.g. RCW 11.118.005-110. Washington is one of over 40 states that allow such trusts.

⁹ RCW 9.08.070; RCW 9.08.072; RCW 9.08.074; RCW 9.08.076; RCW 9.08.078.

¹⁰ This court and other erudite sources have acknowledged the two basic functions of the law of torts – to deter future conduct through a finding of liability and to compensate the injured person for damages sustained. See *Restatement (2nd) Torts* § 901 (1979), *Spokane Truck & Dray Co. v. Hofer*, 2 Wash. 45 (1891), *Babcock v. State*, 112 Wn.2d 83, 113 (1989)(Utter dissenting); *Any v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477 (2005) (Chambers dissenting); Learned Hand, 3 A.B.C.N.Y. Lectures on Legal Topics 87 (1926).

out deterrence to licensed veterinarians. But Washington requires proof of unprofessional conduct by the probatively more onerous clear and convincing evidence standard, muddying deterrent potential. *Newman v. State*, 156 Wash.App. 132, 146 (I, 2010). Further, several legislative and judicial distinctions between veterinary and human care providers in Washington limit oversight and protection of animal patients and their caretakers, such as: (1) The adverse health event and incident reporting system (Ch. 70.56 RCW) does not apply to veterinarians or veterinary hospitals¹¹; (2) The closed malpractice claim reporting system (Ch. 48.140 RCW) does not apply to veterinarians¹²; (3) The health care claims act (Ch. 7.70 RCW) does not apply to veterinarians. *Sherman v. Kissinger*, 146 Wash.App. 855 (2008).

At present, civil litigation does not operate as a reliable failsafe since deterring veterinary malpractice is prohibitively costly with marginal return when orchestrated through a civil suit, utterly unlike human

¹¹ See RCW 70.56.010(6,7,10)(defining hospital as facility licensed under Ch. 70.41 RCW); RCW 70.41.020(4)(defining hospital to reference treatment of “individuals,” not animals).

¹² This Act mandates reporting to the National Practitioner Data Bank and Office of the Insurance Commissioner, pursuant to Ch. 284-24D WAC and Ch. 48.140 RCW, yet veterinarians are not considered “health care providers.” RCW 48.140.010(7)(defining “health care provider” or “provider” to have same meaning as in RCW 7.70.020(1,2)); act, chapter 7.70 RCW, does not apply to veterinarians and veterinary clinics). The National Practitioner Data Bank and Healthcare Integrity and Protection Data Bank (NPDB-HIPDB), does not appear to mandate reporting for veterinarians as they are neither physicians nor dentists and are not listed in the *Examples of Other Health Care Practitioners*, shown on page C-3. See NPDB Guidebook, Ch. C *Health Care Practitioners* pages 1-3.

malpractice claims.¹³ Private litigation is, therefore, a poor and highly costly substitute for discipline.

This is so although anyone can understand the deep loss suffered when a beloved domestic companion animal is killed or seriously harmed. At first glance, the topic of veterinary malpractice might appear to be of limited social or economic importance. In sheer financial terms, however, U.S. consumers spend over \$24,500,000,000 (\$24.5 billion) exclusively on veterinary care for their pets every year.¹⁴ Remarkably, this annual economic outlay to veterinarians is 300% greater than the gross revenues of the entire U.S. recording industry.¹⁵ The substantial contribution to the U.S. national economy and veterinary profession solely resulting from the value Americans place on their pets is undeniable. These considerable sums continue to rise even in rough economic times.¹⁶

Extensive research by the American Veterinary Medical

¹³ Financial recovery will both entice lawyers to proceed on contingency and incur tens of thousands of dollars in expert fees and litigation costs, as well as effectively deter misconduct by the class of defendants who might have to pay such judgments. Yet the ratio of expert fees and litigation costs to judgments recovered in veterinary malpractice claims are often greater than 1:1 (meaning that the plaintiff breaks even if he prevails), and the judgments are several orders of magnitude smaller than those involving human medical malpractice deaths (or even injuries).

¹⁴American Veterinary Med. Assn., *U.S. Pet Ownership & Demographics Sourcebook*, 1 (AVMA 2007).

¹⁵ Recording Industry Association of America, *2009 Yearend Shipment Statistics*, http://www.riaa.com/keystatistics.php?content_selector=2008-2009-U.S-Shipment-Numbers (accessed Sep. 1, 2010).

¹⁶ AVMA, *U.S. Pet Ownership*, *supra* n. 1. That the number of U.S. pets increased only modestly during these periods makes such spending surges all the more astounding.

Association (“AVMA”) has determined conclusively that the primary factor causing this escalation is the strong bond pet owners share with their companion animals.¹⁷ Washington is ranked sixth as the state with the highest percentage of pet-owning households (62.7%) and the fifth ranked with the most cat-owning households (39%).¹⁸ According to the AVMA, 99% of pet owners now consider their animals to be either “family members” or “companions,” compared with only 1% who consider their pets to be simply “property”,¹⁹ prompting AVMA president Douglas G. Aspros, DVM to say, “The human-animal bond is stronger than ever, but we are very concerned that pets may not be getting the preventive health care they need.”²⁰ Total veterinary visits nationwide increased from 193 million to 202.4 million in 2011.²¹

Another comprehensive study by the veterinary profession determined that 76% of all pet owners said they would “spend any amount necessary to keep their pets healthy.”²² This cultivation of the human-animal bond has been an obvious and absolute boon to the veterinary profession. Salaries for veterinarians have nearly doubled in just the last

¹⁷ Burns, *infra*.

¹⁸ AVMA, U.S. Pet Ownership & Demographics Sourcebook (2012).

¹⁹ AVMA, *U.S. Pet Ownership* (2012).

²⁰ www.avma.org/news/javmanews/pages/130201a.aspx.

²¹ Extrapolating to Washington, with 2.15% of the U.S. population, and skewed by high pet-ownership rankings, this translates to over five million veterinary visits in Washington annually.

²² Lue, *infra*.

10 years.²³ Even the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics officially noted how the bond has translated into significant economic gains for the veterinary profession.²⁴ The above demonstrates the substantial public importance – to both owners and veterinarians – of the issue presented by Ms. Hendrickson.

Assessment of Court of Appeals Decision

For further consideration, Ms. Hendrickson rebuts contentions made by the panel:

- a. “Both decisions hinged their analysis on the following provision of the *Restatement of Contracts* § 341.”**

While *Cooperstein* and *Thomas* did rely on the 1932 version of the Restatement of Contracts, *Gaglidari v. Denny’s Restaurants, Inc.*, 117 Wn.2d 426 (1991) adopted the later and more expansive 1981 revision of *Rest. (2nd) of Contracts* § 353, cited by the panel in *slip op.* at 6. Importantly, § 353 broadened the doctrine from its 48-year-old predecessor in three important respects: (1) to permit recovery regardless

²³ At \$120,000, the average veterinarian is in the U.S. Census and Bureau of Labor Statistics’s highest category of 2007 wage earners “\$100,000 and above.” http://pubdb3.census.gov/macro/032007/perinc/new01_001.htm (accessed Sept. 1, 2010).

²⁴ U.S. Dept. of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, *Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2010-2011 Edition, Veterinarians 3* (“Many pet owners consider their pets as members of the family, which serves as evidence that people are placing a higher value on their pets and is an example of the human-animal bond. These pet owners are becoming more aware of the availability of advanced care and are more willing to pay for intensive veterinary care than owners in the past. Furthermore, the number of pet owners purchasing pet insurance is rising, increasing the likelihood that considerable money will be spent on veterinary care.”).

of bodily harm; (2) to permit recovery even absent recklessness or willfulness by instead focusing on the foreseeability of serious emotional disturbance; and (3) by allowing recovery where the contract *or* breach is of a kind that would result in substantial mental anguish.

In other words, if *the contract* is not of the type that when breached would cause such psychological suffering, the recklessness or willfulness of *the breach itself* would justify recovery. Here, Ms. Hendrickson has alleged that both the contract *and* the manner of breaching the contract warrant emotional distress damages. Yet, as described below, the panel undertook *no analysis* as to whether breaching a veterinary contract, recklessly or not, resulting in harm or death to a beloved companion animal (who is also the veterinarian's patient) is of such kind that a veterinarian would understand is particularly likely to cause serious emotional distress.

b. “Based on these examples, the court held that the *Cooperstein* and *Thomas* courts misapplied the *Restatement*”.

Cooperstein and *Thomas* remain good law. They were not reversed. *Gagliardi*, at 445. But they did rely on the first Restatement's narrower doctrine. *Thomas*, at 814, acknowledged the cognizability of these noneconomic damages relating to breach of contract for education at a cosmetology school. *Cooperstein* and *Schwarzmann v. Association of*

Apartment Owners of Bridgehaven, 33 Wash. App. 397, 404 (Div. 1, 1982) (citing *Cooperstein*), while not finding a reckless breach of contract under the evidence presented, nevertheless recognized the cause of action's viability.

In evaluating whether an employment contract is the type contemplated by the Restatements, the *Gagliardi* court quoted a Michigan court:

Loss of a job is not comparable to the loss of a marriage or a child and generally results in estimable monetary damages.... An employment contract will indeed often have a personal element. Employment is an important aspect of most persons' lives, and the breach of an employment contract may result in emotional distress. **The primary purpose in forming such contracts, however, is economic and not to secure the protection of personal interests.....**

Id., at 441 (emphasis added). *Gagliardi* added that the contracts for which mental distress damages are recoverable include those where the contract has "elements of personality" or was "'meant to secure [the] protection' of personal interests." *Id.*, at 446-47. Ms. Hendrickson, like most good caretakers, described her relationship to Bear as if he were her ward and child, the loss of which is more comparable than not to the examples given.²⁵ **Exh. D, ¶ 14.**

²⁵ See *Grather v. Tipery Studios, Inc.*, 334 So.2d 758 (1976, La.App.) (allowing noneconomic damages related to unprofessionally photographed wedding pictures when professional hired); *Mitchell v. Shreveport Laundries, Inc.*, 61 So.2d 539 (La.App.1952) (allowing noneconomic damages related to laundry agent failing to deliver groom's only clean and fitting suit in time for wedding); *Lane v. KinderCare Learning*

The question for this court is whether the bailment contract to provide veterinary care for a sentient, animate being who occupies a status analogous to a child and is not maintained or cared for in the hope of realizing any commercial gain (i.e., through employment, breeding, show or competition) is the type of contract for which emotional distress damages are recoverable under *Gagliardi* – acknowledging, per the above data, that the veterinary industry profits directly from, and markets to, the foreseeable emotional connection between human and “man’s best friend,” also known as the human-animal bond.²⁶

Several personalizing elements exist in treating a nonhuman animal as a family member or companion, like 99 percent of Americans do, making application of the *Gagliardi* doctrine to the present fact pattern sensible. Where animal guardian-owners are willing to spend many times over the purchase price of another canine without any hope of recouping the expense through future profits, the type of loss related to this breach of contract therefore has nothing to do with pecuniary loss. Rather, it stems

Centers, Inc., 231 Mich.App. 689 (1998)(allowing noneconomic damages to mother in breach of contract by day care involving care of 18-month-old).

²⁶ See Lue, Debbie P. Pantenburg et al., *Impact of the owner-pet and client-veterinarian bond on the care that pets receive*, Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, Vol. 232:4, Feb. 15, 2008; Katie Burns, *Human-Animal Bond Boosts Spending on Veterinary Care*, Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, Vol. 232:1, Jan. 1, 2008; *What are your Clients Willing to Pay?*, Veterinary Economics (August 2007), pp. 100, 104; John W. Albers, *What Pet Owners Really Think About Cost*, Trends magazine (American Animal Hospital Association), May/June 2007, pp. 45-50; *Survey asks how pet owners will respond to an economic downturn*, Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, Vol. 232:5, Mar. 1, 2008.

from interference with such “noneconomic values as personal associations, love of a place, and pride in one’s work that add up to one’s sense of identity.”²⁷ *Mooney v. Johnson Cattle Co., Inc.*, 291 Or. 709, 717 (1981) (in evaluating the kind of contractual arrangement for which emotional distress damages might be recoverable in breach).

The types of contracts that other jurisdictions have held fall within § 353 include those essentially tied to the plaintiff’s mental or emotional well-being. Though rejecting the doctrine as to a car, *Kwan v. Mercedes-Benz of N.A., Inc.*, 23 Cal.App.4th 174 (1994), provides a judicious foil as to a dog.²⁸ In discussing § 353, the California Court of Appeals remarked:

In spite of America’s much-discussed ‘love affair with the automobile,’ disruption of an owner’s relationship with his or her car is not, in the normal sense, comparable to the loss or mistreatment of a family member’s remains, an invasion of one’s privacy, or the loss of one’s spouse to a gambling addiction.

Id., at 190 (cit.om.). The Court of Appeals did not even begin to meaningfully examine whether disruption of a plaintiff’s relationship with her dog or cat, by a defendant veterinarian in a contractual relationship

²⁷ The vital connection between an animal and his guardian-owners has been classified by adjunct Harvard Law Professor and renowned author Steven Wise as vesting in the owner a type of “constitutive property.” Wise bases the theory on the proposition that possession or ownership of certain property, like a pet, can become a central aspect of the owner’s sense of identity. Steven M. Wise, *Wrongful Death of a Companion Animal*, 4 *Animal L.* 33 (1998). He refers to companion animals as “quasi-children” who “may also be metaphorical extensions of their owners” such that “the wrongful killing of one’s companion animal may threaten the way in which an owner constitutes herself: in losing her companion animal, she loses a vital part of herself.” *Id.* at 67-68.

²⁸ See *Rabon v. City of Seattle*, 107 Wash.App. 734, 744 (1, 2001) (finding merit in argument that person’s relationship with a dog deserves more protection than with a car);

entrusted to care for the animal in the capacity of a learned professional, through emotional marketing, is the type that would foreseeably generate serious emotional disturbance in the plaintiff. Though it cited to three Washington decisions all confirming the familial and emotional link to pets, the panel ignored the central inquiry: i.e., the emotional nexus.²⁹

Furthermore, two out of state cases speak to the uniqueness of animals in contract disputes, further supporting Ms. Hendrickson's § 353 position. *Houseman v. Dare*, 966 A.2d 24 (N.J.App.,Mar. 10, 2009), reversed the trial court, which held that companion animals are personalty lacking unique value essential to award specific performance, and concluded that money was an insufficient remedy for breach of contract involving custody over a dog. And *Smith v. University Animal Clinic, Inc.*, 30 So.3d 1154 (La.App.2010), *cert. denied*, 36 So.3d 247 (2010), a

²⁹ Such has been repeatedly acknowledged by the Washington Court of Appeals and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. *Pickford v. Mason*, 124 Wash.App. 257, 263 (II, 2004) ("Pickford, with good reason, maintains that Buddy is much more than a piece of property; we agree."); *Womack v. von Rardon*, 133 Wash.App. 254, 263-64 (III, 2006) ("The damages are consistent with actual and intrinsic value concepts as found in *Pickford* because, depending upon the particular case facts, harm may be caused to a person's emotional well-being by malicious injury to that person's pet as personal property."); *Sherman v. Kissinger*, 146 Wash.App. 855, 873 fn. 8 (I, 2008)(veterinary case, permitting emotional damages for intentional torts); *Mansour v. King Cy.*, 131 Wash.App. 255, 265, 267 (I, 2006) (recognizing "emotional importance of pets to their families; acknowledging pets regarded as family"); *Rhoades v. City of Battle Ground*, 115 Wash.App. 752, 766 (II, 2002) ("pets are not fungible" and "private interest at stake is great"); *Downey v. Pierce Cy.*, 165 Wash.App. 152, 165 (II, 2011)("pet owners' interests in keeping their pets ... is arguably more than a mere economic interest because pets are not fungible"); *San Jose Charter of Hells Angels Motorcycle Club v. City of San Jose*, 402 F.3d 962, 975 (9th Cir.,2005)("The emotional attachment to a family's dog is not comparable to a possessory interest in furniture.").

contract case, allowed emotion-based damages upon breach by a veterinary clinic providing boarding services to plaintiff's cat.

c. “*Price* and the other cases involving emotional damages, while instructive, are not analogous here because they did not involve claims for emotional damages arising out of a reckless breach of contract; rather, they all involved negligence claims in tort.”

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