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

1. This case presents no issue of first impression. 

Ms. Hendrickson argues that the Court of Appeals 

erred "by categorically rejecting emotional distress damages 

upon proof of reckless breach of a veterinary contact." Peti

tion for Review, p. 1. On page 14 of her petition for review, 

Ms. Hendrickson frames the issue she is seeking this Court 

to review as "whether the bailment contract to provide veter

inary care for a[n animal] ... is the type for which emotional 

distress damages are recoverable under Gaglidari v. Denny's 

Restaurants, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 426, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991)." 

Gaglidari concerns whether an individual could ob

tain emotional distress damages for breach of an employ

ment contract. This Court recognized that "[t]he traditional 

common law doctrine provides that tort damages for emo

tional distress caused by breach of an employment contract 

are not recoverable," and concluded that "[no] change is 

warranted either on the basis of common law, the Restate-
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ment of Contracts, Washington Precedent, or public policy." 

Gaglidari, 117 Wn.2d at 440, 815 P.2d 1362. 

Gaglidari held that it was error for the trial court to 

allow Gaglidari to seek emotional distress damages for the 

breach of her employment contract. Gaglidari, 117 Wn.2d at 

448, 815 P.2d 1362. Gaglidari discusses Thomas v. French, 

30 Wn. App. 811, 638 P.2d 613 (1981), reversed on other 

grounds, 99 Wn.2d 95 659 P.2d 1097 (1983) and Cooper

stein v. Van Natter, 26 Wn. App. 91, 611 P.2d 1332 (1980) 

and how the courts in those cases had "announced a general 

right to recover emotional distress damages in contract ac

tions." Gaglidari, 117 Wn.2d at 444-445, 815 P.2d 1362. 

The Gaglidari court concluded Thomas and Cooper

stein were based on an overbroad reading of the Restatement 

of Contracts § 341 (1932) and then held, "we have yet to erase 

the traditional distinction between tort and contract damag

es in order to award damages for emotional distress on an 

ordinary breach of contract action. Anything to the contrary 

in Thomas or Cooperstein is specifically disapproved." Ga

glidari, 117 Wn.2d at 444-445, 815 P.2d 1362. 

Contrary to Ms. Hendrickson's claims, Gaglidari 
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made clear that Cooperstein and Thomas are no longer good 

law for the proposition that emotional distress damages may 

always be recovered in an action for breach of a contract. 

Further, again contrary to Ms. Hendrickson's claims, Ga-

glidari made clear that the Restatement (Second) of Con-

tracts § 353 was not "more expansive" than the earlier § 341 

and did not did not create a "more expansive" and broadened 

doctrine than that announced in Cooperstein and Thomas: 

While at first glance section 353 might appear 
to support the creation of a new theory of re
covery, the comments, illustrations and cases 
cited belie this reading. Comment a demon
strates a strong intent to maintain the tradi
tional focus on types of contracts, not types of 
breaches. 

*** 

The comment's clear focus is the nature of con
tract. The type of breach is not even discussed. 
Moreover, with the exception of omitting en
gagements to marry as a covered type of con
tract, comment a is substantially the same as 
its predecessor in the original Restatement 
which was consistently interpreted to limit 
emotional distress damages to specific types of 
contracts. Rather than a break with the tradi
tional rule, Restatement (Second) of Contracts 
§ 353 is more properly viewed as carrying for
ward the traditional focus on the character of 
the contract. We also note no jurisdiction has 
suggested there is a substantive difference be
tween section 341 and section 353· 
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Gaglidari, 117 Wn.2d at 443-444, 815 P.2d 1362. 

As pointed out by the Court of Appeals, "Washington 

law is clear that 'a pet owner has no right to emotional dis

tress damages or damages for loss of human-animal bond 

based on the negligent death or injury to a pet."' Hendrick

son,--- P.3d ----, 2013 WL 5752157, at *5, citing Sherman v. 

Kissinger, 146 Wn. App. 855, 873, 195 P.3d 539 (2008). On

ly a "malicious injury to an animal can support a claim for 

emotional distress damages." Sherman, 146 Wn. App. at 

873, 195 P.3d 539. The Court of Appeals noted these aspects 

of Washington law and then correctly concluded that this 

case involved neither situation. Hendrickson, --- P .3d ----, 

2013 WL 5752157, at *5, n. 2. 

Nothing in Cooperstein, Thomas, Gaglidari, or the 

Restatement of Contracts supports Ms. Hendrickson's argu

ment that emotional distress damages are available in an ac

tion for breach of a contract to perform veterinary services. 

The law is well settled in Washington that emotional distress 

damages are not generally available in a breach of contract 

claims. 

In the context of the injury or death of animals, dam-

6 



ages for emotional distress are available only as a result of a 

malicious injury to the animals. Ms. Hendrickson fails to es-

tablish that this case presents any issue of first impression of 

substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 

13-4Cb)(4). 

2. The decision of the Court of Appeals is 
not in conflict with any decision of any 
division of the Court of Appeals. 

Ms. Hendrickson fails to identify any case from any 

division of the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington 

with which Division Il's decision in this case is in conflict. As 

discussed above, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case 

comports fully with the law in this State. 

Division I of the Court of appeals has held that "It is 

well established that a pet owner has no right to emotional 

distress damages or damages for loss of human-animal bond 

based on the negligent death or injury to a pet" and that only 

a "malicious injury to an animal can support a claim for emo-

tional distress damages." Sherman, 146 Wn.App. at 873, 195 

P.3d 539. Sherman cited a Division II case, Pickford v. Mai-

son, 124 Wn. App 257, 98 P.3d 1232 (2004) to support this 

conclusion. 
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In Pickford, Division II held that the plaintiff was not 

entitled to recover damages for negligent infliction of emo-

tional distress or damages for loss of companionship and the 

human-animal relationship for the negligent death or injury 

of a domestic animal. Pickford, 124 Wn. App at 260-263, 98 

In Womack v. Von Rardon, 133 Wn.App. 254, 135 

P.3d 542 (2006), Division III of the Court of Appeals noted 

that "the Pickford court left open whether malicious injury to 

an animal may be the cause of emotional distress damages in 

Washington because their facts ... raised solely negligent in-

jury." Womack, 133 Wn. App. at 263, 135 P.3d 542. Wom-

ack held: 

For the first time in Washington, we hold mali
cious injury to a pet can support a claim for, 
and be considered a factor in measuring a per
son's emotional distress damages. The damag
es are consistent with actual and intrinsic value 
concepts as found in Pickford because, depend
ing upon the particular case facts, harm may be 
caused to a person's emotional well-being by 
malicious injury to that person's pet as person
al property. 

Womack, 133 Wn. App. at 263-264, 135 P.3d 542. 

Thus, Division II's decision in this case that emotional 

distress damages were not available for the breach of a veter-
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inary services contract is in complete harmony with the law 

of Washington and does not conflict with any decision of any 

other division of the Court of Appeals. Emotional distress 

damages are only available for the death of an animal caused 

by malicious action. 

Finally, as discussed above, Washington law does not 

allow recovery of emotional distress damages in an action for 

breach of contract. The Court of Appeals pointed this out: 

Hendrickson has failed to submit, and this 
court is not aware of, any Washington case ap
plying the Restatement rule and creating a 
claim for emotional distress damages arising 
out of a contract action ... Accordingly, we hold 
that the trial court did not err when it dis
missed Hendrickson's claims for reckless 
breach of bailment contract and emotional dis
tress damages. 

Hendrickson,--- P.3d ----, 2013 WL 5752157, at *10. 

The Court of Appeals Decision is not in conflict with 

any case from any other division of the Washington Court of 

Appeals. 

3. The Supreme Court should not overrule the 
Legislature's decision to leave time-tested law 
as it is. 

In the 2008 legislative session, the Washington Legis-

lature considered, but did not adopt, a bill creating "a cause 
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of action for the wrongful injury or death of a companion an

imal." House Comm. on Judiciary, H.B. Rep. on H.B. 2945, 

6oth Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash.2oo8). 1 Ms. Hendrickson's peti

tion, in effect, asks this Court to adopt legislation the Legisla

ture declined to enact. Clearly the Legislature is content with 

the ancient wisdom of the common law and, hence, this issue 

is not one of "substantial public interest" that requires this 

court's attention. 

III. Conclusion 

Since the dawn of civilization, the affection people 

have for their domestic animals has been chronicled. See, 

e.g., CAT IN ANCIENT EGYPT by Jaromir Malek, 2nd Rev. Ed., c. 

2006 British Museum Press. Ms. Hendrickson offers this 

Court nothing new or different. 

Ms. Hendrickson does not present any issue of first 

impression of substantial public interest such that review of 

this case is proper under RAP 13-4(b)(4). 

Further, the decision of the Court of Appeals in this 

case is not in conflict with any other decision such that re

view would be proper under RAP 13-4(b)(2). 

1 Ms. Hendrickson's counsel attended the committee hearing and thus 
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is well aware of this fact. 
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This court should deny Ms. Hendrickson's Petition for Re-

view and affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals.